1979

# International Resources, A Utah Corporation v. C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield : Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On June 12, 1975, Snellen M. Johnson, claiming to be an assignee of the Plaintiff, filed a complaint against the Defendants alleging that Plaintiff and Defendants had entered into a lease agreement by which Plaintiff paid to Defendants the amount of \$6,647.10 for the first and last months of the lease period, and by which Defendants agreed to provide certain premises for the occupancy of the Plaintiff. Johnson also alleged that Defendants failed to provide to Plaintiff the premises, and that Plaintiff was therefore entitled to a return of the \$6,647.10. Johnson also alleged that Plaintiff had assigned to him its cause of action against Defendants.

2. After Johnson's complaint had been filed, the Defendants moved the Court for an Order permitting the Defendants to add International Resources as a Plaintiff in the case. The Court granted the Defendants' motion. Defendants, however, did not obtain service of International Resources and no jurisdiction over International Resources was ever acquired.

3. A trial was then held to litigate the merits of Johnson's cause of action. The minute entry of the trial states that Johnson put on his evidence, and after he put on his evidence, the Defendants then moved the Court to dismiss for failure to prove the allegations in the

complaint. The Court granted Defendants' motion to dismiss. The minute entry also shows that Johnson's counsel offered an Exhibit designated as 2-P, and specified as "Assignment," but that the Court refused to receive this evidence.

4. After the trial of Johnson's cause of action, the attorney for Defendants submitted a document entitled "Order of Dismissal", which was then signed by the Honorable Bryant H. Croft.

5. After Judge Croft had signed said Order of Dismissal, Johnson's counsel objected to the form of the Order, and moved the Court for a modification on the grounds that International Resources was never joined as a party; that the order should not run to a dismissal of prejudice as to International Resources. The Court granted Johnson's motion. The Court then signed a second Order of Dismissal submitted by Johnson's counsel.

6. The second Order of Dismissal states in part, as follows:

a. ". . . International Resources has never been formally advised that it had been joined as a party plaintiff in the above entitled action, nor no Summons nor Service of Process ever having been served on International Resources, International Resources is

dismissed from the case as a party plaintiff, and as a counterclaim defendant."

b. "The matter thereupon went to trial . . . (and) the evidence was presented on behalf of the Defendant . . . Defendant made a motion to dismiss based upon Plaintiff's failure to prove allegations as prayed for in the complaint . . . (T)he complaint of the Plaintiff, Snellen M. Johnson, . . . is hereby dismissed with prejudice . . . "

7. After the trial of Johnson's cause of action, the Court made no findings of fact, nor did it enter any conclusions of law.

8. Subsequent to the entry of said second Order of Dismissal of Johnson's cause of action, Plaintiff, International Resources, then filed a complaint against the Defendants alleging that it was entitled to a return of said \$6,647.10 for breach of said lease agreement by Defendants. At this point, Defendants moved the Court for an Order dismissing the Plaintiff's complaint on the grounds that the issue had been previously litigated in Snellen Johnson versus Dunfield, Civil No. 228490. From that Order, the Plaintiff appeals.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA DOES NOT BAR  
PLAINTIFF FROM LITIGATING ITS CAUSE OF ACTION  
ON MERITS

An examination of the above facts leads to the conclusion that the doctrine of res judicata should not bar Plaintiff's cause of action against Defendants merely because Defendants face a similar lawsuit from another Plaintiff. It is the general rule of law that res judicata cannot be applied against strangers to the prior action. Clark v. Wilson, (Ky) 316 SW 2d 693; Mays v. District Ct., 34 Idaho 200, 200 P. 115; Morrissey v. Bologna, 240 Miss. 284, 123 So.2d 53 cert. den. and app. dismd., 366 U.S. 212; O'Hara v. Pittston Co., 186 Va. 325, 42 SE2d 269; Simmons v. Parrent, 71 Wyo. 207, 256 P2d 101. This rule is stated in 46 Am. Jur. 2d Judgments 518, p. 670-671 as follows:

It is also well settled that, with certain exceptions hereinafter noted, that the doctrine of res judicata does operate to effect strangers to a judgment, that is, to effect the rights of those who are neither parties nor in privity with a party therein, whether the judgment is attempted to be used in connection with the cause of action previously litigated, or connection with particular issues determined therein. This is particularly true where the doctrine of res judicata is sought to be applied as against strangers to the prior action, whether the stranger is a

plaintiff or a defendant in the latter action. It has also been applied regardless of the fact that the stranger knew of the prior action and might have been intervened therein, or that he offered to become a party but was denied the privilege, or that he attempted to enjoin prosecution of the prior action.

In explicating this rule of law, the Supreme Court of Utah in Tanner vs. Bacon, 136 P.2d 957, 959-60 (Utah, 1943), stated:

It is well settled that the doctrine of res judicata does not operate to affect strangers toward a judgment; that it only affects the parties, and their successors in interest, and those who are in privity with a party thereto . . . This court has defined the word "privity" as "a mutual or successive relationship to the same right or property. As applied to judgments or decrees of courts, the word means one whose interests have been legally represented at the time."

Also, the Supreme Court of Utah, in In re Town of West Jordan, Inc., 326 P.2d 105, 107 (Utah, 1958) stated the following:

. . . in the ordinary case where a judgment has been granted on issues which have been litigated between the same parties, such issues under the doctrine of collateral estoppel cannot be relitigated in a subsequent but different cause of action . . . That doctrine only applies where a question of fact essential to and determinative of the judgment is actually litigated and determined by a valid or final judgment which is conclusive as between the parties to a subsequent action on a different cause of action. (Emphasis added.)

From the foregoing discussion of law, it is apparent that res judicata cannot possibly bar the Plaintiff from litigating its cause of action on the merits. This is because International Resources by order of the Court was dismissed from the previous lawsuit. The order of the Court specifically states that International Resources was dismissed as a party plaintiff and as a counter-claim defendant because service of process over International Resources was never effected. Thus, International Resources was not a party to the previous action, and therefore res judicata is not applicable. It should also be noted that the privity exception as defined by the Utah Supreme Court is not applicable to the instant case because there is no evidence in the record showing any type of privity between the Plaintiff and Snellen M. Johnson.

#### POINT II.

THE COURT IN THE PREVIOUS LAWSUIT FOUND THAT THERE HAD BEEN NO VALID ASSIGNMENT FROM PLAINTIFF TO SNELLEN M. JOHNSON, AND THEREFORE PLAINTIFF CANNOT BE PRECLUDED FROM LITIGATING ITS CAUSE OF ACTION ON THE MERITS

The facts show that the previous court on the issue of assignment of the cause of action from the Plaintiff to Snellen M. Johnson found that there was no valid assignment. The Order of Dismissal, as well as the Minute Entry states that Johnson put on his evidence before the previous Court and then Defendants

moved to dismiss for failure to prove the allegations in the complaint, and that the Court granted the Motion to Dismiss. The Minute Entry also shows that an "Assignment" was offered by Johnson's counsel, but refused by the Court. One of Mr. Johnson's allegations was that there had been a valid assignment from International Resources to Snellen M. Johnson. If Mr. Johnson failed to prove this allegation, then the Court must have determined that there was no valid assignment. Also, it is apparent that the Court found that there was no valid assignment because the supposed "Assignment" itself was refused by the Court. 46 Am. Jur. 2d. Judgments 508, p. 662 states a rule of law which is applicable to these facts:

The general rule is that a judgment rendered because of a defect of parties does not operate to bar subsequent action. This rule prevails whether the judgment is based upon a want of parties, a misjoinder of parties, a temporary disability of the plaintiff to sue or a mistake of the plaintiff as to the character or capacity in which he brings the suit.

The instant situation fits squarely into this rule of law, which is an exception to the doctrine of res judicata. In the previous case, the Court found that there had been no valid assignment. Therefore, Johnson was under a disability to bring the cause of action in the first place. In other words, the rule of law is that if a cause of action does not belong to the party bringing suit, then the findings of fact

and judgment cannot possibly be res judicata against the proper party bringing suit. Obviously, Plaintiff is the proper party bringing suit in the instant case, and the doctrine of res judicata is not applicable.

It should also be noted that if the doctrine of res judicata is a bar to the bringing of the cause of action by International Resources now, then it was also a bar to International Resources at the time of Johnson's trial. Thus, if the Court would have thought that International Resources was precluded from bringing another lawsuit, the Court would not have dismissed International Resources from the previous case, but would have determined that the judgment was conclusive as to International Resources. It should also be noted that the Court's dismissal of International Resources from the prior lawsuit, is perfectly consistent with the rest of the Order of Dismissal and the Minute Entry since the Order of Dismissal and the Minute Entry show that there had been no valid assignment. Thus, the Court had no choice but to dismiss International Resources from the case with the intention that it would be allowed to litigate its cause of action in a subsequent lawsuit.

POINT III

THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA BARS THE  
DEFENDANTS FROM RAISING THE ISSUE OF WHETHER  
THE PLAINTIFF MAY LITIGATE ITS CAUSE OF ACTION  
ON THE MERITS

46 Am. Jur. 2d Judgments 518, p. 669 - 70 states:

With regard to the persons as to whom the doctrine of res judicata is applicable, the rule is well settled that a judgment is binding in favor of or against all parties to the proceedings in which it is rendered, and their privies, whether the doctrine is asserted on behalf of the plaintiff, or defendant in a subsequent action.

From this rule of law, it is apparent that the order of dismissal of Johnson's cause of action in the prior lawsuit, is binding upon the Defendants since the Defendants were a party to the prior lawsuit. The order of dismissal specifically states that the Plaintiff was dismissed from the prior lawsuit for failure to obtain jurisdiction over the Plaintiff. Thus, the issue as to whether the Plaintiff may now litigate its cause of action on the merits was decided in a previous lawsuit in favor of the Plaintiff. Obviously, the previous Court would not have dismissed International Resources from the lawsuit had it determined that International Resources was precluded from litigating its cause of action in another lawsuit. In short, Defendants are now barred by the doctrine of res judicata from relitigating an issue previously decided by a court of law.

POINT IV