1979

International Resources, A Utah Corporation v. C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield : Brief of Defendant-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by Plaintiff-Appellant, International Resources, for an alleged breach of a lease agreement by Defendant-Respondent, C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield, counterclaimed alleging that there was indeed a breach of contract on a lease agreement but that said breach was Plaintiff-Appellant's fault. Both parties are claiming monies due for damage under the lease agreement.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Honorable David B. Dee, Judge of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, granted Defendant-Respondent, C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield's Motion to Dismiss.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-Respondent respectfully requests this Court to uphold and affirm the decision of Judge David B. Dee granting Defendant-Respondent's Motion to Dismiss.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 12th, 1975, Snellen M. Johnson filed a complaint against C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield. The complaint was over a lease entered into on November 4, 1973, between International Resources and C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield, over property located at 4751 Holladay Boulevard Salt Lake City, Utah. (1R-p.2)* The Plaintiffs alleged that Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield at no time prepared the

*Reference to Case number 228490 is designated by (1R-p) and reference to Case number 244950 is designated by (2R-p)

building for occupancy as agreed and thus did breach and violate the lease agreement by which International Resources is entitled to the return of its payment of \$6,647.10. (1R-p.3) A trial was held after Plaintiff rested, Judge Croft granted Defendant-Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. (1R-p.22)

On September 16, 1977, International Resources filed a complaint against C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield. The complaint was almost word for word the same as the first complaint filed by Snellen M. Johnson. It was over the same lease agreement, concerning the same parties, and the same issues. (1R-p.2-3, 2R-p2-3) In the second complaint, it was alleged the same as the first that "C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield at no time prepared the building for occupancy as agreed and thus did breach and violate the lease agreement by which International Resources is entitled to the return of its payment of \$6,647.10. (2R-p.3) Defendant-Respondent moved to dismiss the complaint which the Honorable David B. Dee granted.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

A JUDGMENT OF A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION
RENDERING A DECISION UPON A PARTICULAR ISSUE IS
CONCLUSIVE AND BARS SUBSEQUENT LITIGATION ON THE
SAME ISSUE.

There is a well settled doctrine in the legal community called the doctrine of "res judicata". Simply stated, the doctrine of res judicata means that a judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction directly rendered upon a particular issue or issues is conclusive as to the parties and issue so decided in the same or any other controversy. Once Judge Bryant H. Croft, a Judge of competent jurisdiction, ruled in favor of Defendant-Respondent dismissing an action by Plaintiff Appellant over a lease agreement on real property, subsequent actions on the same lease concerning the same issues would be barred because of the doctrine of "res judicata".

The defendant respectfully points out to the court that all issues alleged in the present legal suit by International Resources, have been adjudicated by the Third Judicial District Court. A careful scrutiny of the first complaint filed by Mr. Pace, Snellen M. Johnson vs. C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield, civil No. 228490 and then the second complaint International Resources vs. C. Robert Dunfield and Lynn S. Dunfield, civil No. 244950 clearly points out that the only issue in both actions is a payment of \$6,647.10 received by the defendants for a lease on property at 4751 Holladay Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah. It is interesting to note that in both

complaints the amount of money is exactly the same, the address is exactly the same, the date of the lease agreement is exactly the same, and the parties entering into a lease agreement are exactly the same. Coupling all these items that are exactly the same in both complaints, there should be no question in anyone's mind that the issues of the suit or the cause of action, or whatever legal term you would want to put it under, leads you to exactly the same conclusion; the actions are identical. There is only one minor difference, International Resources filed suit the first and Snellen N. Johnson filed suit second.

In 50 Corpus Juris Sucondum, Sec. 712:

"A judgment rendered by a court having jurisdiction of the parties and subject matter is conclusive and indisputable evidence as to all rights, questions, or facts put in issue in the suit and actually adjudicated therein, when the same come again into controversy between the same parties or their privies, even though, according to the decisions of the question, the subsequent proceedings are on a different cause of action since the law abhors a multiplicity of suits. Another statement of the rule is that any right, fact, or matter is issue, or directly adjudicated on, or necessarily involved in, the determination of an action before a competent court in which a judgment or decree is rendered on the merits is conclusively settled by the judgment therein and cannot again be litigated between the parties and privies whether or not the claim or demand, purpose, or subject matter of the two suits is the same." (emphasis added)

There are numerous cases which also indicate the same doctrine. In *Runyan v. City of Henryetta, Oklahoma*, 321 P2d 689 (1967) it states:

"Doctrine of res judicata is that a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction upon a matter properly before it concludes parties to the litigation and their privies, and constitutes a bar to a new action or suit upon the same cause of action, either before the same or any tribunal."

The Arizona Supreme Court has also indicated that the doctrine of res judicata applies to parties and their privies. In *Hoff v. City of Mesa*, 86 Arizona 259, 344 P2d 1013 (1965) it states:

"Doctrine of res judicata is that existing final judgment rendered upon the merits, without fraud or collusion, by court of competent jurisdiction, is conclusive as to every point decided therein and also as to every point raised by record which could have been decided, with respect to parties and privies, in all other actions in same or in any other judicial tribunal of concurrent jurisdiction."

Utah, in a decision written by the Honorable Lester A. Wade, and concurred in by the other four Supreme Court Justices, upheld and supported the doctrine of res judicata in *the Knight v. Flat Top Mining Co.*, case 6 UT2d 51, 305 P2d 501 (1957). In part Judge Wade stated:

"What interest the Flat Top Mining Co. has in these claims was derived from the Plaintiffs in that action. As stated in 30 Am. Jur. 90, Sec 178, on judgments:

It is a fundamental principle of jurisprudence that material facts or questions which were in issue in a former action, and were there admitted or judicially determined, are conclusively settled by a judgment rendered therein, and that such facts or questions become res judicata and may not again be litigated in a subsequent action between the same parties or their privies, regardless of the form the issue may take in the subsequent action," pg.55

It is clear from the facts in this case that the second suit by International Resources is a direct copy of the first suit. The cause of action is the same, the items prayed for are the same, the defendants are the same, and the only distinction is the fact that the Plaintiff is not the same. The legal merit to a cause of action on that certain lease dated November 29, 1973, at 4751 Holladay Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah, has been fully litigated and a judgment rendered. Thus, based on the doctrine of res judicata, defendant respectfully submits that the Supreme Court should support Judge Dee in dismissing a second legal action.

POINT II.

SNELLEN M. JOHNSON AND INTERNATIONAL RESOURCES INC.
WERE, IN FACT, IN PRIVY.

Appellant makes a specific point to observe that res judicata does not apply to strangers (appellant's brief pg. 5)

and that there is no evidence in the record supporting any type of privity between the Plaintiff, International Resources, Inc. and Snellen M. Johnson. (appellant's brief pg. 7) Respondent would respectfully dispute these claims by Appellant and submit that Snellen M. Johnson and International Resources Inc. were, in fact, closely related in interests and knowledge of each other, especially concerning the legal actions discussed herein and, further, by legal definition were, in fact, in privity.

The original lease of the property at 4751 Holladay Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah, dated November 29, 1973, was between International Resources Inc. and the Dunfields. However, it is interesting to note who signed the agreement on behalf of International Resources, Inc.; Snellen M. Johnson. Note also, according to the lease, what his official capacity in the corporation was at that time; President. Also of interest is the Guarantee, attached to the lease, which guarantees payment of the lease by American Ranch and Recreation Company, Inc. Again, Snellen M. Johnson's signature appears as President of American Ranch and Recreation. Respondent respectfully submits it is beyond imagination that International Resources, with Snellen M. Johnson as president, and Snellen M. Johnson, were strangers and unaware of the legal proceedings taking place on the lease in question.

Second, respondent submits Snellen M. Johnson was privy to International Resources, Inc. according to case law defining privy. In the first legal action, it is alleged that International Resources Inc. has original rights to the lawsuit, but then assigned those rights to Snellen M. Johnson. In the second lawsuit, it is alleged that Snellen M. Johnson assigned his rights back to International Resources. Case law makes it clear that a person who obtains rights by purchase or succession is in privy with the party he obtained the rights from.

In *Paradise Palms Community Association v. Paradise Homes*, 89 Nev.27, 505 P2d 596, (1973) it states:

"A privy within general rule that plea of res judicata is available only when there is privy is one who, after rendition of judgment, has acquired an interest in the subject matter affected by judgment through one of parties, as by inheritance, succession, or purchase." See also *Bailey v Beekman, Ind.* App. 362 NE2d 1171 (1977). (emphasis added)

The interest or rights of this law suit was first assigned to Snellen M. Johnson, who lost the case in District Court. Subsequent thereto, those rights were assigned back to International Resources, Inc., - clearly someone who acquired the rights by succession. Based on case law, as quoted above,

Snellen M. Johnson and International Resources, Inc. are in privy.

POINT III.

COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL IS APPLICABLE IN THE PRESENT CASE AND BARS RELITIGATION OF AN ISSUE PREVIOUSLY TRIED.

Even if the court did not feel the doctrine of res judicata per se should prohibit the continuation of this suit, there is another doctrine closely related to res judicata, sometimes confused and identified with res judicata. It is called collateral estoppel. Res judicata bars relitigation of the same cause of action between the same parties or their privies where there is a prior judgment, whereas collateral estoppel bars relitigation of a particular issue for a determinative fact. Thus, the only necessary ingredient to prohibit a second suit under the doctrine of collateral estoppel is that the same cause of action is being tried on the second suit. The reasons for the doctrine are obvious, that is, to equitably protect a person from being tried twice for the same cause of action and also to protect the courts from subsequent litigation on a single issue.

In the present case, it is clear from the pleadings in both matters that the complaints are on the same cause of

action. In *Richard v. Hodsen*, 26 Utah 2nd 113, 485 P2d 1044 (1971) the Utah Supreme Court used the doctrine of collateral estoppel. In that particular case, the issues concerning an earnest money receipt and offer to purchase agreement had been tried, but subsequent thereto another party filed action against the same defendants alleging that there was money due under the earnest money agreement and offer to purchase. The matter was tried and eventually taken to the Supreme Court of Utah. The Supreme Court looked at the issues and stated as follows:

"A form of res judicata applies to situations like this wherein issues which are actually decided against a party in a prior action, may be relied upon by an opponent in a latter case as having been judicially established. This doctrine, known as collateral estoppel, differs from res judicata not only in the fact that all parties need not be the same in the two actions, but also in the fact that the estoppel applies only to issues actually litigated and not to those which could have been determined. The trend of recent cases is to approve this doctrine."